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DECISION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

MICHAEL A. ROSAS, Administrative Law Judge. This case was tried in Philadelphia,
Pennsylvania on August 24-25, 2016." This controversy involves employees represented by
Teamsters Local 628 (the Union) at Stericycle, Inc.’s (the Company or Respondent)
Southampton and Morgantown, Pennsylvania facilities. The complaint, as amended,® alleges
that the Company violated Sections 8(a)(5) and (1) of the National Labor Relations Act (the
Act)® by: (1) refusing to bargain with the Union before unilaterally recouping health care
premiums from employees; (2) refusing or failing to provide relevant and necessary information
to the Union; and (3) unilaterally imposing a team member handbook that changed numerous
terms and conditions of employment. The complaint also alleges that the Company engaged in
coercive conduct and violated Section 8(a)(1) by maintaining policies and rules that interfered
with Section 7 rights. The Company admits taking the alleged unilateral actions, failing to
provide information requested and implementing the policy and rules at issue. It denies,
however, that its conduct constituted unfair labor practices.

" All dates are in 2014 unless otherwise indicated.

2 At the hearing, the General Counsel amended the Second Consolidated Complaint to eliminate
paragraphs 8(b) and 11 of the complaint. (Tr. 8, 28-29.)

*29 U.S.C. §§ 151-169.
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The Company also raised an affirmative defense alleging that the complaint “is tainted by the
involvement of the Regional Director of Region 4 and should be transferred to a different region
for independent review, reconsideration, and processing.” This defense referenced the Board’s
Inspector General Report OIG-1-516 of his investigation into an alleged conflict of interest on the
part of the Regional Director while volunteering on behalf of a nonprofit organization. On
August 24, 2016, 1 entered an order denying the Company’s motion to dismiss or, in the
alternative, disqualify all Region 4 staff in prosecuting this case. I also denied the General
Counsel’s motion in limine and permitted the Company to introduce the OIG report into
evidence under seal for further consideration on exceptions or appeal. However, I precluded the
Company from calling Office of General Counsel staff or other witnesses in order to further
litigate its conflict of interest defense.* At the outset of the hearing, I provided the parties with
an opportunity to reargue the General Counsel’s motion in limine and the Company’s motion to
dismiss the complaint due to the conflict of interest. The argument produced nothing new,
except to clarify that the Company conceded that it did not possess evidence of an actual conflict
of interest on the part of staff litigating the case. As a result, I reiterated my ruling that the
Company was precluded from offering any other evidence in support of its eighth affirmative
defense.

On the entire record,’ including my observation of the demeanor of the witnesses, and
after considering briefs filed by the General Counsel and the Respondent, I make the following

FINDINGS OF FACT
I. JURISDICTION

The Company, a corporation, is engaged in providing medical waste and collection
treatment services to commercial customers throughout the United States, including to and from
its facilities in Southampton and Morgantown, Pennsylvania, where it annually purchases and
receives goods valued in excess of $50,000 directly from points outside the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania. The Company admits, and I find, that it is an employer engaged in commerce
within the meaning of Section 2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act and that the Union is a labor
organization within the meaning of Section 2(5) of the Act.

II. ALLEGED UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICES
A. The Company’s Operations
The Company is the largest medical waste disposal company in the United States. The
Company performs waste treatment at its Morgantown facility involving the collection,

processing and disposal of regulated medical waste (RMW), including bandages, bodily fluids,
and sharp containers of needles, from hospitals, nursing homes, and medical, dental and

* ALJ Exh. 1.
> The General Counsel’s unopposed motion to correct the transcript, dated October 7, 2016,
is granted and received in evidence as GC Exh. 33.
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veterinary offices. Once delivered to the Morgantown facility, RMW is processed, chemically
treated, shredded in a treatment system, placed in containers and disposed of in landfills.

The Company also operates a transfer station at its Southampton facility, where drivers
pick up trash which is then consolidated and brought to the Morgantown facility. These
employees pick up RMW from hospitals, doctor/dentist offices, and other medical facilities. The
RMW is transported to facilities for processing prior to disposal.

B. The Collective-Bargaining Agreements
1. The Southampton facility

The union represented Company employees at its former Montgomeryville, PA transfer
station from 1999 until 2006, when the Company moved those operations to Southampton. On
September 1, 2006, the Union was certified as the exclusive collective-bargaining representative
of employees at the Southampton facility (the Southampton unit). At all times since then, the
Union has been the exclusive collective-bargaining representative of the following employees in
the Southampton unit:

All full-time and regular part-time drivers, driver techs, in house techs, helpers,
dockworkers and long haul drivers of the Company at its Southampton, Pennsylvania
location; but excluding all other employees, office clerical employees, guards, and
supervisors as defined in the Act.

On April 4, 2014, the Company and Union negotiated a collective-bargaining agreement
covering the Southampton unit, retroactive to November 1, 2013, and expiring on October 31,
2016 (the 2014 Southampton Agreement). The 2014 Southampton Agreement provided, in
pertinent part, that Southampton unit employees would be required to make contributions
towards their health insurance:

22.3 Upon ratification, employees will contribute on a pre-tax basis one (1%) of their straight
time hours paid per week to the cost of health coverage. The employer shall deduct this amount
bi-weekly and offset it against the employer’s monthly contributions to the Teamsters Health and
Welfare Fund as specified in 22.2 above . . .°

2. The Morgantown facility

On September 1, 2011, the Union was certified as the exclusive collective-bargaining
representative of the Morgantown unit. Respondent and the Union subsequently entered into an
initial collective-bargaining agreement for the term of September 6, 2013, to February 29, 2016.”
A new CBA was ratified in June 2016.

® GC Exh. 2.
"GC Exh. 3 at 1.
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At all times since September 1, 2011, the following employees at the Morgantown
facility have constituted a unit appropriate for the purposes of collective bargaining within the
meaning of Section 9(b) of the Act:

All full-time and regular part-time regulated medical waste (RMW) plant workers, sharps
plan workers, RMW Shift Supervisors, Sharps Shift Supervisors/quality control
representatives, drivers, dispatchers, yard jockey, maintenance mechanics, Maintenance
Supervisor and painters employed by Respondent at its Morgantown, Pennsylvania
facility; but excluding all office employees, confidential employees, guards and
supervisors as defined in the Act.

C. The Recoupment of Health Care Premiums from the Southampton Unit

Although the Southampton CBA was ratified on April 13, 2014, the Company’s payroll
contractor, ADP, encountered initial difficulties integrating the health insurance premium data
for the hourly union employees with that of nonhourly employees. After several test runs, ADP
was finally able to process the health care premium deductions of one percent health insurance
cost in until the September 12 payroll.®

John Dagle, the Union’s Secretary/Treasurer, brought the missing deductions to the
attention of Willie Riess, Southampton’s Facility Manager, in late June or July 2014. Reiss
initially was unaware that the employees’ share of their health insurance was not being
deducted from their pay and agreed to look into it. By July, Reiss ascertained the problem and
updated Dagle regarding the payroll processing issues.’

On September 3, Riess emailed Dagle and informed him that the Company had
“completed the work and tests necessary for the payroll deductions for Health and Welfare as
per Article 22.3 of the CBA” and planned “to deduct these amounts evenly over the next three
pay days for each employee starting with the September 12, 2014 payday. If you have any
questions or concerns, [p]lease let me know.” A spreadsheet detailing the amount of each
employee’s deductions was attached.

Dagle replied on September 5, opposing the Company’s “unilateral decision to recoup
unpaid health care deductions beginning September 8, 2014.” He added that the “recoupment
decision” violated the [CBA] and [Company’s] obligations under federal law.”"® Riess replied
on September 8§:

¥ The parties do not dispute the legitimacy of the difficulties encountered by the Company’s payroll
contractor in timely processing the new payroll changes. (Tr. 188—189.)

? Dagle and Reiss provided consistent testimony regarding their discussions about the missing
health care deductions, but disagreed as to whether the issue of recoupment came up prior to Dagle’s
September 3 email. I credit Reiss’ denial that Dagle raised the recoupment issue prior to September 3.
Dagle was vague as to the timeframe when he allegedly told Reiss that the Company forfeited its right
to recoupment or would, at the very least have to bargain over the issue first. (Tr. 38—40, 113-114, 130,
188-195). Moreover, the emails exchanged between Reiss and Dagle on September 3 make no
reference to previous discussion about recoupment. (R. Exh. 1 at 1-5.)

'"R.Exh. l at 5.
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Thanks for your email. I am sure it won’t surprise you that we do not agree.

As you know, for the past few months employees have been receiving health benefits. . .
without interruption, however, the employees have not been making their contributions
due to some administrative issues on our end. Nonetheless, the employees have an
obligation under the CBA to make their 1% contribution and there is nothing in the
contract that prevents the Company from making catch-up contributions to collect what
they are legally obligated to pay. This is no different than the monthly arrears balances
the Union demands from the Company for the dues obligations of employees.

We can resolve this in a number of ways. You can keep insisting on your position and
then, I guess I will have to ask you to justify how the dues situation is any different. If
you do not want the Company to pursue the employees for moneys it owes the
Company per the Agreement you signed, then the Company can pursue the amounts
owed directly from the Union if you want to agree to indemnify the employees for this
commitment.

Right now, we will be proceeding as planned, unless I hear that you agree to my last
suggestion. Of course I am available to discuss."

Dagle responded on September 9, citing Section 22.3 of the CBA and the Company’s

failure to implement it:

Stericycle failed to exercise its rights under the agreement. Moreover, Stericycle’s
decision to unilaterally deduct from employees’ bi-weekly paychecks contributions
retroactively for a seventeen week period (4/13/14 through 8/9/14) over the next six
weeks is a violation of the company’s obligations under the [CBA]. For those six weeks,
the Stericycle will pay its employees at rates below those expressly required by the
agreement. The Union will forward a grievance regarding this matter under separate
COVEr.

Any employee medical contribution recoupment schedule must be negotiated with the
Union. Stericycle does not have the legal right to unilaterally impose its own schedule.

As a precondition for bargaining, Stericycle must first rescind its decision to commence
recoupment and forgo any further action pending agreement. Once the recoupment
decision is rescinded, the union will, without prejudice to its position on the grievance,
negotiate on this . . . matter on September 23, or September 29, 2014. Please contact me
to schedule negotiations.

In addition, in order for the Union to prepare for bargaining, please provide the
following information:

1. All backup documentation utilized by the Company to determine the retro amounts
due for the period 4/13/14 through 8/9/14.

"1d. at 7-8.
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Please forward the requested information directly to the Union office by no later than
Friday, September 19, 2014."

Riess replied a few hours later, reiterating the Company’s disagreement with the
Union’s position, but offering to bargain over the issue:

Obviously, the Company disagrees with you . . . Nevertheless, any threatened grievance
over the Company’s alleged failure to follow the CBA as it pertains to making these
deductions on a bi-weekly schedule is time-barred by the CBA.

All these defenses to the Company’s actions aside, we are willing to bargain with the
union over the timing of the catch-up deductions as announced in our September 3 letter
to you and as you request in your communication today. Since we did not hear anything
from you for days following that communication, the first payment on the schedule has
already been processed in our payroll for this coming Friday. We will hold off on
making any further deductions—notwithstanding our right to do so—until you and I
have had a chance to further discuss.

Dagle replied a few hours later, reiterating the Union’s position and demanding the
Company restore the status quo:

To create the preconditions for bargaining over its recoupment proposal, Stericycle must
maintain the status quo pending resolution of the dispute. This requires that you cancel
the extra deduction set for this Friday or that you make employees whole for the shortage
in accordance with section 21.2 of the contract. Please inform me tomorrow of what
action Stericycle intends to take to restore the status quo."

Riess and Dagle met on September 10 to discuss the Company’s recoupment proposal.
At that time, Riess explained that it was too late to reverse the first payroll deduction on
September 12, but offered to discuss the remaining two recoupment payments. Dagle refused
the offer, insisting that the Company restore the status quo by reversing the first deduction
before the Union would agree to bargain over the recoupment issue. A contentious email
exchange followed over the next 2 days reflecting the standstill. The end result was that the two
final deductions were processed in the September 26 and October 10 payrolls. '

D. Information Request Relating to the Recoupment of Health Care Contributions
Unsuccessful in preventing the Company’s implementation of the recoupment process,

Dagle took steps to grieve the action through a series of requests for information related to the
Company’s difficulties in implementing the health insurance premium deductions.” On

2 1d. at 9-11.

P1d. at 12-13.

' Notwithstanding Dagle’s contention that Riess informed him of “corporate’s” intention to proceed
with the 3 recoupment payments, the latter’s September 12 email refuted that and reiterated the
Company’s offer to bargain over the 2 remaining recoupment payments. (Tr. 4045, 48, 127-132, 193—
194; GC Exh. 6; R. Exh. 1 at 14-15.)

" Dagle credibly testified that the information requests sought to determine and/or confirm the
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September 11, in connection with his “investigation” of the Company’s recoupment actions and
the potential filing of a grievance by the Union, Dagle requested, in pertinent part, the following
information by September 23:

1. Provide copies of any communications, written or electronic
between any Stericycle representatives or agents concerning or related to
Stericycle’s decision to deduct the amounts (copy enclosed) evenly over the next
three (3) paydays for each employee starting with the September 12, 2014

payday.

5. Provide copies of any communications, written or electronic
between any Stericycle representatives or agents regarding Stericycle’s
implementation of Article 22 subsection 22.3 of the Collective Bargaining
Agreement. '

On September 22, Carol Fox, the Company’s Labor Relations Manager, denied Dagle’s
information requests on the grounds that were either unclear or constituted irrelevant,
confidential and privileged internal Company communications that were not provided to
employees or the Union."”

Dagle took a different tack for recoupment-related information on September 26 by
requesting “copies of Stericycle’s bargaining notes, including notes of side bar discussions
or other contacts with union representatives concerning, or relating to discussion of employee
health coverage deductions.”"® Fox declined the request on October 17 on the grounds that they
were overly broad, confidential and irrelevant on the issue of whether the recoupment payments
violated the CBA. Dagle explained the relevance of his request in a follow up email on October
20:

The documentation requested should shed light on the reasons for the delay, the
difficulties involved in instigating the deductions, the company’s diligence in working
for a solution and why the solution took as long as it did. It should also provide
information on who was involved and the roles they played in working out a
resolution Such information is essential to a fair evaluation of the employer’s
unilateral decision to recoup missed contributions through three unauthorized
employee payroll deductions.

The union is prepared to review and bargain over a specific Stericycle
proposal to address its claimed confidentiality concerns.

Finally, with respect to the request for notes (other than the bargaining notes

legitimacy and details underlying the extent of the Company’s explanation for the delays in processing
the health insurance premium deductions. (Tr. 4344, 47.)

' GC Exh. 5.

7 GC Exh. 7.

'® GC Exh. 8.
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to which the union is entitled), the union requests notes (and/or other
documents) related to conversations between Stericycle representatives and
the union over the employer’s failure to deduct employee health contributions
from the date of ratification to the date of this letter.

Although the parties entered into a confidentiality agreement on November 17, it
pertained only to item 2 requested in the Union’s September 26, letter, having to do with
nonpublic information of the Company’s payroll vender."” The information, subject to the
confidentiality agreement, did not cover the bargaining notes requested in the September 26
letter or internal communications between the Company’s personnel regarding implementation
of the recoupment of the health care deductions.

E. Information Requests Relating to Employees’ 401 (k) Contributions

Article 23.3 of the Southampton CBA provided that unit employees would receive
biweekly an amount consisting of $0.3125 per hour on a “pre-tax” basis for all straight-time
hours paid per pay period provided that employees made an appropriate election into either the
Company’s 401(k) Plan or Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the investment plans). The amounts
were to be treated as “employee deferral contributions” subject to the terms and conditions of the
relevant Plan[s], as applicable.

Implementation of the investment plans did not go smoothly and a dispute arose in May
2014, as to whether the contract required Company payments to be paid directly into both
investment plans on a pretax basis. The Company interpreted the CBA as merely requiring it to
remit the benefit amounts directly to employees and giving them the option to designate it for the
401(k) plan or stock purchase plan. If employees opted for the 401(k) plan, the Company
remitted the amount on a pretax basis. However, if employees chose the stock purchase plan, the
payments were taxed at the applicable rate.”

On June 2, the Union filed a grievance alleging that the Company “failed to remit the
$0.312 per hour on a pre-tax basis for all straight-time hours paid to each active non-
probationary bargaining unit employees’ 401k account or Stock Purchase Plan as required by the
Collective Bargaining Agreement.”” On September 4, the Union filed for arbitration over the
grievance.?

1. The September 5th information request
On September 5, the Union submitted a request for information entitled “Grievance —
Violation of Article 23, subsection 23.3 Dated June 2, 2014.”* On September 22, the

Company provided certain information responsive to the request but objected to other portions.

Paragraphs 1 and 2 essentially requested copies of “all bargaining unit employees’ bi-

R. Exh. 9 at 1-4.

2 R. Exh. 7; GC Exh. 13.
2l GC Exh. 11.

2 R. Exh. 5.

2 GC Exh. 12.
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weekly earnings statements to include all earnings, deductions and year to date totals” between
April 13 and September 6, and from September 7 on an ongoing basis. The Company attached
a printout containing payroll information, but not earnings statements, which it has provided to
the Union in the past.* The Company also objected to the need for such information “on an
ongoing basis” as “not clear” and “unduly burdensome.” The Company requested that the
Union “identify any specific time periods and how each is related to the Union’s investigation
of this grievance or any particular grievance and the company will re-evaluate the
reasonableness of the request.”

Paragraph 6 and 8 requested copies of any communications between the parties regarding
the Company’s implementation of Article 23.3. The Company objected on the grounds of
relevance to the arbitration and was “aimed solely at discovering the Company’s legal theory and
strategy in the arbitration of the same.” %

2. The September 18th information request

On September 18, the Union submitted an additional information request, entitled
“Grievance -- Violation of Article 23, subsection 23.3,” seeking copies of the Company
bargaining notes, proposals, agreements or understandings between the parties relating to
Article 23.3.7 In Fox’s reply, also contained in her September 22nd email, she rejected the
Union’s request on the grounds that the Company’s bargaining notes were irrelevant and
confidential, and were sought solely for the purpose of ascertaining the Company’s legal
theories and defenses related to the arbitration. With respect to proposals, agreements or
understandings during bargaining, the Company referred the Union to its own records and
further characterized the request as unauthorized pre-arbitral discovery.”

3. Documents provided pursuant to arbitration subpoena

The Union did not respond or follow up further regarding these requests at any time until
on or about August 18, 2015, when the Union’s counsel issued a subpoena to the Company
relating to the arbitration of the Union’s grievance, which was scheduled to commence on
September 10, 2015. In many respects, the subpoena mirrored the Union’s prior information
requests.  Paragraph 2 of the subpoena sought documents relating to the Company’s
“implementation of Article 23.3,” clearly encompassing the documents requested in paragraphs 6

* Fox corroborated Dagle’s explanation regarding the difficulty in gleaning the appropriate pretax
wage information from the payroll documents provided in contrast to the more detailed earnings
statements requested. (Tr. 52-53, 299-301, 316-319; GC Exh. 13.)

» Dagle’s testimony that the Company previously provided it with copies of earnings statements was
undisputed. (CP Exh. 3; Tr. 309.) On the other hand, the Company correctly points out that the process of
printing out the requested earnings statements for approximately 100 Southampton employees for 15 pay
periods would have been significantly time consuming — 1,500 earnings statements at 4 minutes each—
would have taken a payroll clerk up to 100 hours to produce. (Resp. Exh. 7; Tr. 277-278.) Thus,
complying with the Union’s request would have taken between 75 and 100 hours of clerical time.

** GC Exh. 15B.

7 Dagle credibly explained that the purpose of these also sought to determine if any issue came up
during bargaining regarding Article 23.3. (GC Exh. 14; Tr. 58-59.)

* GC Exh. 15B.
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and 8 of the September 5th request, as well as paragraphs 1, 2, and 3 of the September 18th
request. Paragraphs 3 and 4 of the subpoena mirrored paragraphs 1 and 2 of the September 5th
request.”

On September 4, 2015, Company Counsel Dawn Blume responded to the subpoena. The
documents included a payroll report (in Excel spreadsheet format) “containing everything found
on the ‘earnings statements’” sought by the Union. With respect to the actual earnings
statements, Blume explained “that it takes a payroll clerk in our department 3—4 minutes to
download and print out a single earnings statement which is the equivalent of 8 hours of time for
a single payroll period for the entire unit in Southampton” and that “we simply do not see the
point in engaging in this manual exercise when the information on the earnings statements is
identical to what is contained in the report I have attached hereto.” Despite the Company’s
unwillingness to perform this manual exercise, Blume noted that she had “arranged for John
Dagle, your client to have access to our payroll system for the limited purpose of accessing and
printing (if he desires) the ‘earnings statements’ he continues to demand from the Company.”
Blume advised that his credentials and log-in information would be forthcoming.*

On September 8, 2015, Blume again emailed Newlin. As she had indicated she would in
her September 4 email, Blume attached a summary payroll report for 2014 and 2015, and she
provided the log-in information for the Union to directly access the employees’ earnings
statements.*!

The arbitration commenced on September 10, 2015. At the hearing, the arbitrator
revoked the Union’s subpoena to the extent it sought the Company’s bargaining notes. Two
hearing days have occurred, but the hearing had not concluded as of the date when the unfair
labor practice hearing.

In mid-September 2015, the Company was advised by the Union that it was having
trouble printing out the earnings statements. On October 5, 2015, Dave Beaudoin, the
Company’s Human Resource Information Systems (HRIS) Manager, contacted the Union’s
administrative assistant by email to offer his assistance.”> Beaudoin inquired as to whether he
“could jump on a WebEx meeting, so [he] could log on to your computer and verify that you are
appropriately configured to run the software.” The Union, however, was unwilling to allow
Beaudoin to access its computer. After further discussions, Beaudoin forwarded a file on
November 5, 2015, that the Union needed to install.¥® On November 17, 2015, Beaudoin spoke
with Liz Sterling, the Union’s Secretary and office manager. Sterling informed her that she was
able to view the earnings statements on a computer screen, but was unable to print them.**

F. The Ebola PowerPoint Presentation

* CP Exh. 1; R. Exh. 7.

*R. Exh. 7.

' R. Exh. 8 at 6-21.

*R. Exh. 11 at 3.

#1d. at 2.

3 There is no indication that Sterling requested additional assistance from Beaudoin in printing copies
of the files. (Tr. 163, 206-208; Id. at 1.)

10



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

JD-110-16

The Company does not handle Class A medical waste, which includes waste

contaminated by the Ebola virus. On or about November 12, Safety Manager Ron Maggiaro
gave a 10—15 PowerPoint presentation to Morgantown employees on how to recognize Ebola
waste packaging and avoid handling it. Employees were not given copies of the presentation.®
The Union learned about the employee presentation and in emails, dated November 13 and 18,
Dagle requested the Company provide it with a copy of the “Ebola video.”™

On November 18, Fox responded, requesting that Dagle copy her on future requests and

proceeded to reject his request:

First, Ebola is Category A waste, not [RMW], so it falls outside the span of the [CBA].
Although the Morgantown employees will not be transporting or handling this waste, we
decided to educate our employees on the Company’s activities related to Ebola. The
presentation shown to the employees is confidential and proprietary. This type of
information could cause a great deal of speculation and public concern if it was released
to third-parties outside our organization. Consequently, we are more than happy to review
the power-point presentation with you that we shared with the employees in person, at a
mutually convenient time at our offices, but we are not providing a copy to you or anyone
else for reasons I stated. '

Dagle responded the following day, November 19, disputing Fox’s confidentiality

concerns and assuring her that the Union would “agree that the power-point presentation will not
be shared with anyone outside the union’s officers, representatives and agents.” He noted that the
employees were given the presentation without any mention that the information was
confidential or proprietary. Nevertheless to meet Fox’s claim of confidentiality, he pledged that
the Union would not show the PowerPoint to anyone outside of its officers, representatives, and
agents. He then again requested a copy.™ On November 25, Fox responded as follows:

Under common law, employees of Stericycle are required to keep nonpublic information
confidential. Employees also agree to this requirement when they sign our Handbooks.
The Union has no such obligations to preserve the confidentiality of Stericycle materials
(except, as I understand, for a limited agreement we recently reached over internal
payroll processing data you requested). I appreciate the effort you have made to extend
me these assurances, however, I also understand that you cannot personally guarantee
that anyone you share these materials with will also keep the materials confidential.

As I previously stated, these materials are extremely sensitive and you should know that
Stericycle has spent a great deal of time answering questions from the public and other
regulators surrounding whether EBOLA contaminated waste will be transported and/or
treated within their town, municipality, jurisdiction etc. Many of these questions came
from mere speculation and panic a situation that we are trying to avoid. For this reason,
we did not permit any of the Morgantown employees to receive copies of the materials

35 Tr. 227-230.

% GC Exh. 17.

37 GC Exh. 18 at 3.
3B 1d. at 2-3.

11



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

JD-110-16

we presented to them. We only shared with them the presentation in person that I already
offered to share with you. As I already stated to you, these employees will not transport
the waste as it is outside their position duties. We simply presented them with the
information because we want to educate all the employees on our activities in this area.

Again, my offer to present to you, at a mutually convenient time, the same materials that
we presented the employees still stands.®

On December 1, Dagle responded, disagreeing with Fox’s interpretation of the law and
her proposed compromise:

I am not aware of any enforceable common law requirement that would
prevent a Morgantown or Southampton employee from sharing information
presented by Stericycle concerning handling of Ebola waste and ensuring
the safe handling that waste by its employees. If there is some prohibition on
sharing “non public” Stericycle information with third parties in the
handbook that applies to the Ebola presentation, I would like to see it.
Please provide me a copy of the current Employee Handbook employees
must sign.

Your proposal to just let me view the presentation is inadequate. Local 628
needs to verify the accuracy of the information you are providing
represented employees to ensure that their safety is being adequately
protected. To verify the presentation’s accuracy, Local 628 must submit a
copy to professional experts in the infectious disease and biosafety field for
their review. It would be neither cost effective no practical to insist that such
experts attend a presentation at a Stericycle facility.

I repeat Local 628’s willingness to bargain over an appropriate agreement to
address any legitimate Stericycle confidentiality concerns. Please provide a
copy of the presentation.*

The Company did not respond to Dagle’s December 1st email. Nor did it provide him
with the employee handbook referred to in Fox’s November 25th email. It did, however, post a
notice at the Morgantown facility on January 16, 2015, explaining that employees were not to
handle Ebola waste and that the Ebola presentation had been given for informational purposes
only. The Company provided Dagle with a copy of the notice on January 20, 2015.*
Additionally, on March 2, 2015, Fox provided Dagle with a copy of the recently implemented
employee handbook at the Morgantown facility.*

G. Vehicle Backing Program

Sometime in November, the Company issued employee James Clay a counseling report

¥ 1d. at 1-2.
“O1d at 1.
4 R. Exh. 4.
42 GC Exh. 21-22.
12
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after he was involved in a vehicular accident. The discipline subjected Clay to retraining for
repeatedly violating the Company’s vehicle backing program. Dagle and Transportation Manager
Robert Schoennagle agreed to meet to discuss Clay’s discipline. Prior to meeting, on
November 24, Dagle requested several documents, including a “copy of the Company’s
vehicle backing program.” Schoennagle forwarded the information, except for the vehicle
backing program, to Dagle on November 25.*

Schoennagle and Dagle met again on November 28. Dagle renewed his request for a
copy of the vehicle backing program. Schoennagle said he did not have a copy of the program,
but would look into it. At a subsequent meeting on January 22, 2015, with Schoennagle,
Transportation Supervisor Glenn Oesyterling, Transportation and Human Resource Manager
Susan O’Connor, Dagle renewed his request for vehicle backing program information.
Shoennagle replied that the program consisted of a power point presentation and a video. He
added, however, that the Company refused to produce the information because the PowerPoint
presentation was “proprietary information” and the video was a “copyrighted item” that the
Company purchased from an outside vendor, J.J. Keller & Associates, Inc.*

On January 29, 2015, Shoennagle reaffirmed the Company’s refusal to provide vehicular
program information, which it considered “a proprietary company training tool,” but offered
Dagle or union shop stewards the opportunity to “sit in on a presentation of this program with a
proper written request from the Union.”® On January 30, 2015, the Union filed a charge over
the Company’s refusal to provide the vehicle backing program information.

On March 2, 2015, Fox responded by reiterating the Company’s position that the
PowerPoint presentation proprietary and confidential, are irrelevant because Clay had seen the
video several times and did not file a grievance over the discipline. She added that, without
waiving future objection to any of these items, the Company was providing the PowerPoint
presentation. With respect to the video, she reiterated that it was the licensing agreement with
the vendor that prohibited copying and limited viewing to employees. Under these limitations,
the Company offered Dagle the option of viewing the video at a mutually convenient time or
visiting the J.J. Keller & Associates website. Dagle did not take Fox up on her offer."’

Finally, Fox also addressed Dagle’s December 1st request for a copy of the employee
handbook:

Stericycle employees sign copies of the employee handbook at hire which is what I
previously referenced when I relayed that employees are bound by prohibitions in the
handbook on releasing confidential, proprietary and non-public information of the

“ GC Exh. 19; R. Exh. 10.

“R. Exh. 10 at 2-4.

* The testimony by Dagle and Shoennagle was consistent on regarding the discussions at these
meetings. (Tr. 6670, 167-168, 215-217, 223-224.)

% GC Exh. 20.

" Dagle speculated that he would have no way of knowing whether the video link referenced in the
letter was the same as the one shown to employees. That explanation defied common sense since he
would have encountered the same uncertainty, requiring confirmation by a unit member, if the Company
had provided him with a video. (Tr. 69-72.) Nor is there any evidence that he considered the cost of
purchasing the video, for which no credible evidence of cost was offered. (Tr. 304—305.)
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Company. When you requested a copy of the Handbook, we searched our records and it
appears that the Company has not distributed or maintained Handbooks in Southampton
since 2009 and Morgantown since 2011. As a result, the Company is now distributing its
2015 handbooks in these locations. I am attaching a copy here for your reference. Please
let me know if you have any questions.*

H. Harassment Training Video

On December 30, Dagle requested “a copy of the Code of Conduct and Harassment
Training video which the Company had bargaining unit employees view in its training.” The
video itself is a 10 to 15 minute harassment training video that was commissioned by the
Company from a law firm in Chicago. Morgantown Plant Manager Mike Valtin responded later
that day as follows: “The Code of Conduct and Harassment Training video are proprietary and
can be available for you to view; however, the Company cannot give you a copy.”® Dagle made
no effort to view the video.”

1. The Soubra Grievance

On November 20, the Union filed “a formal grievance on behalf of Local 628, Ryan
Suobra and the bargaining unit” alleging that “supervisor Ron Lobb egregiously and forcefully
placed his hands on, grabbing, pushing and pulling employee Ryan Suobra on Saturday,
November 15, 2014.”" On December 5, Plant Manager Mike Valtin responded to the
grievance as follows:

While the Company does not necessarily agree with the Union’s statement that Ron
Lobb’s action toward Ryan Soubra was egregious or forceful, we believe that no
Manager or Supervisor should touch an employee. The Company agrees that this
behavior is unacceptable and will not be tolerated. Therefore, Mr. Lobb’s unacceptable
behavior has been addressed with him per company policy. Harassment Training will be
held for all Morgantown Plant Supervisors and Team Members by January 1st 2015.%

Not satistfied with the Company’s response to the grievance, on December 11, Dagle
informed Valtin that the Union intended “to proceed to Step 2 regarding the Ryan Suobra
grievance.” Dagle proposed the Step 2 meeting for December 15 and “in order for the Union to
properly investigate this grievance,” requested the following information:

1.Copies of all video tapes, photographs, or other similar media containing
information relevant to the Company’s investigation of . . .

2. The names and statements of any witnesses of which the Company
is aware that have knowledge of the facts and circumstances
regarding supervisor Ron Lobb’s egregious and unacceptable

“ GC Exh. 21.
4 GC Exh. 26.
0 Tr. 150, 252-253.
S GC Exh. 23.
52 GC Exh. 24.
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action on Ryan Suobra on November 15, 2014.

3. Copies of all investigative reports concerning supervisor Ron
Lobb’s egregious and unacceptable action on Ryan Suobra on
November 15, 2014 which are in the possession of the company
including the company’s investigative notes of interviews of
witnesses or persons interviewed regarding this incident.

4. Copies of all documents, reports, emails, etc., relevant to the
Company’s investigation of supervisor Ron Lobb’s egregious
and unacceptable action on Ryan Suobra on November 15,
2014.

5. Copies of all documents, reports, emails, etc., related to
Steicycle’s discipline and reprimand of supervisor Ron Lobb for
his egregious and unacceptable action on Ryan Suobra on
November 15, 2014.

6. Copies of all documents, reports, email, etc., in supervisor
Ron Lobb’s personnel file regarding similar previous
instances of egregious and unacceptable actions on
employees.*

Dagle and Valtin met for a Step 2 grievance meeting on December 22. Valtin provided a
copy of the video tape requested in item and permitted Dagle to read the disciplinary notice
issued to Lobb. He also provided him with the names of at two witnesses and a written
statement by one of them.>* However, the Company refused to provide any further information
responsive to items 2 through 6. Valtin confirmed the Company’s position on December 30:

Your request regarding the Company’s investigation into misconduct and personnel
information of a non-bargaining unit employee (items 2-6) are denied because they are
not presumptively relevant and you have not provided any reasons to justify their
relevance as to any grievance or discipline issued to a bargaining unit employee.

Further, the Union does not have any right to access the Company’s premises to attend
training or otherwise — other than as negotiated in the CBA. Article 28 does not provide
the Union with access rights to attend Company trainings with employees or to otherwise
disrupt the Company’s normal business operations.™

Dagle replied on January 7, 2015, insisting that the requested information was relevant to
the Union’s “investigation and evaluation” of the Soubra grievance:

3 GC Exh. 25.

1 credit Dagle’s testimony regarding his awareness of prior incidents involving Lobb, but not his
speculative testimony as to what the action form stated or vague testimony that Lobb just got a “pat on the
back.” (Tr. 151-153.)

 GC Exh. 27 at 2.
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You have represented to me that Stericycle has disciplined Mr. Lobb for his conduct. In
order to evaluate whether the discipline is sufficient to deter future misconduct against
bargaining unit members, I have requested information related to Stericycle’s
investigation into the assault, Mr. Lobb’s disciplinary record for similar incidents and
Stericycle”s evaluation and consideration of the appropriate discipline under the
circumstances.>

On January 12, Valentin acknowledged Dagle’s explanation for the request but
reaffirmed the Company’s position denying the request:

The Company has previously provided you access to the discipline issued to Lobb
resulting from his interaction with Mr. Soubra. As you know, Mr. Soubra received no
disciplinary action resulting from the incident. The reason the Company provided the
Union with the discipline was to demonstrate its good faith and commitment to its
policies and to assure the Union that Mr. Lobb will continue to suffer consequences for
violating Company policies, which include inappropriate interactions with coworkers.

The Union does not have any right to grieve or challenge any discipline issued to a non-
bargaining unit member. Consequently, your rationale for wanting to review the
personnel file of Mr. Lobb—to detetmine if the discipline issued was appropriate and
sufficient—is not related to the Union’s representational duties. As a result, your reasons
for wanting the requested information does not overcome Mr. Lobb’s right to
confidentiality of his personnel information. Therefore, your request is denied.”’

J. TMX Team Meetings

On July 9, Dagle observed a new notice posted at the Morgantown facility soliciting
volunteers for a new workplace group called the TMX (Team Member Experience) Team. The
notice sought employee participation to discuss and feedback in employee surveys.

Concerned that the meetings may have involved discussions of employees’ terms and
conditions of employment, Dagle submitted an information request to District Manager Steve
Pantano on July 15, 2015. The request sought all documents relating to TMX team related
planning, meetings, employee surveys, employee selection and participation criteria, employee
attendance lists and compensation for attending, as well as similar documents used at other
facilities.

Fox responded on August 7, 2015, explaining that the sign-up sheet had been posted in
error at Morgantown and that a notice had been posted informing employees of the retraction.
She added that “[s]ince there is no employee workgroup being formed in Morgantown, we
feel most of the information you are requesting is irrelevant.” Fox did, however, provide a
copy of the TMX meeting notice and the PowerPoint presentation given to employees in
response to paragraph 4 